year the USES has conducted a placement service for the Association at its annual meeting through the local or state agency of USES.

The service is designed to provide a liaison between potential employers and employees who want their availability known but choose to keep their names and/or institutions confidential. A number system devised by the USES provides a means whereby job descriptions and application forms can be viewed by the interested parties and then messages can be sent to those "numbers" which appear desirable via the USES. The followup for interviews, etc. is entirely in the hands of

PROFESSIONAL CONFERENCES

Sixtieth Annual Meeting of the American Political Science Association Minutes of the Council Meeting

The Council of The American Political Science Association met at 9:00 A.M., September 8, 1964, in the Belmont Room of the Pick-Congress Hotel in Chicago, with President C. Herman Pritchett presiding. The following members of the Council, nominees for election in 1964, and former presidents of the Association were present: Joseph La Palombara, Charles B. Hagan, Frederic N. Cleaveland, Charles D. Farris, James L. McCamy Emmette S. Redford, Malcolm E. Jewell, John Wahlke, David B. Truman, Warren E. Miller, David Easton, Lucian W. Pye, James S. Coleman, Gwendolen M. Carter, William Anderson, Franklin L. Burdette, Robert McCloskey, Karl W. Deutsch, Ithiel de Sola Pool, Joseph Tanenhaus, Samuel Beer, Marian Irish, Evron M. Kirkpatrick, Harvey C. Mansfield, Robert E. Lane, Gabriel A. Almond, Leon D. Epstein, Peter Odegard, Pendleton Herring.

Prior to the meeting, the Executive Director had mailed to each Council member an agenda book which included the reports of the Executive Director, the Editor of THE AMERICAN POLITICAL SCIENCE REVIEW, the Treasurer, and the Auditor, as well as the minutes of the Executive Committee meetings during the past year. These reports were the basis of Council discussion and are available to Association members. The Executive Director distributed copies of a statement by the National Science Foundation in support of political science on the same basis that programs of NSF are open to other social sciences. Also distributed were announcements calling the attention of those present to the Special Panel Meeting on Political Science and the Work of UNESCO to be held Wednesday at 10:00 A.M.

The President opened the meeting and thanked the Executive Director for his efforts in opening the NSF programs in political science. He called attention to the fact that the Sixtieth Annual Meeting marked Evron M. Kirkpatrick's tenth year of service as Executive Director and pointed out the great progress the Association has made during that time. He announced the new Chairman of the Joint Commission on Political Science and Administrative Law, Victor Rosenblum, who replaces James Fesler.

the applicants and employers. A total of 360

persons seeking employment registered with the

service, while 104 employers from 32 states and

one foreign country registered 189 openings with the service. This represents an increase of approxi-

mately 10 per cent in application registration, a

73 per cent increase in employer registration, and a 52 per cent increase in total openings listed.

Nearly 75 per cent of the openings were teaching

positions with the balance in research, administra-

tive, etc. This year a pre-convention mailing was made and as a result, 223 applicants and 41

employers pre-registered.

The President expressed the appreciation of the officers, council and members of the Association for the many contributions Morton Grodzins made to our Association, our profession and our discipline and expressed the sympathy of all of us to Mrs. Grodzins on Morton's death. The Council unanimously endorsed the statement of the President.

The Editor of the REVIEW, Harvey Mansfield, requested and received unanimous approval of the appointment of Roland Pennock to replace John Lewis on the REVIEW Editorial Board. The Editor mentioned that the flow of manuscripts to the REVIEW was about 225 to 250 per year and that an increasing number of manuscripts were in the field of international affairs. He noted that many members had expressed the desire to see the service features of the REVIEW increased. The first cumulative index to the REVIEW since 1926 has been published using KWIC indexing, thanks to the work of Kenneth Janda and the Northwestern University Press. It was also reported that a new Biographical Directory of the Association would be brought out next year. The Executive Director explained that new techniques were being explored which would allow more frequent publishing of the Directory.

Leon Epstein, the Program Chairman, reported on the Sixtieth Annual Meeting Panels. Of the 100 major papers, 65 Universities were represented; geographically they were drawn 40 to 45 East and 27 Middle West. He also recommended that a certain portion of future papers be selected on a competitive basis instead of by invitation only. The Chairman thanked Mrs. Jean Walen of the APSA staff for her invaluable assistance on the program arrangements.

In his report, the Executive Director mentioned the steady growth of the Association membership which is increasing at slightly over 100 per month.

A significant development this year is the recognition accorded political science through inclusion in the NSF programs. The Council appreciatively recognized the great benefit of this inclusion to political science. A new program started by the Association in February 1964, was a comprehensive study of Congress made possible by a grant from the Carnegie Corporation, under the direction of Ralph K. Huitt. It will be carried on by autonomous individuals commissioned by the Director.

Continuing programs of the Association include the Congressional Staff Fellowship Program, supported by a grant from the Ford Foundation. under which nine appointments were made for 1964-65 by a bipartisan House-Senate Advisory Committee. About 100 applications were considered. The Congressional Fellowship Program continues to be highly regarded by members of Congress. The Association had received requests for Fellows from 33 members of the Senate and from more than 150 members of the House of Representatives by mid-November. The second Annual Senate Youth Program, organized in collaboration with the William Randolph Hearst Foundation and unanimously approved by Senate resolution, will again bring high school student leaders to Washington for a week's study of governmental operations. In cooperation with the Office of Career Development, U. S. Civil Service Commission, the Association is arranging Seminars to further understanding of the executivelegislative processes. Attending the two Seminars held in 1964 were 37 high level civil servants and 22 individuals representing 10 Executive departments and agencies. The Association is continuing the Seminar for Freshman Congressmen conducted for the first time in January 1963. This project has brought forth many expressions of appreciation and has led to the preparation of a Handbook for Legislative Service by the Association to be used in conjunction with the Seminars. The Association, by its programs and activities, has been of considerable benefit to political, science, furthered good relations with Congress, and greatly assisted members of the Association.

The Executive Director also announced that the Association will be asked to be represented, as it has been in the past, on the U. S. National Commission for UNESCO when this organization holds its meetings in December.

The President announced that the term of Arnold Rogow, one of the APSA representatives on the National Research Council, has expired. Evron M. Kirkpatrick has been appointed to fill this vacancy.

In the absence of the Treasurer, the Executive Director reported on the financial good health of the Association. On the motion of the President, seconded by Harvey Mansfield, the proposed budget for July 1, 1964, to June 30, 1965, was unanimously approved.

The Council considered a proposal by Albert Lepawsky that the Association should study the problem of effective exercise of the franchise. That the problem of disfranchisement exists was unanimously agreed upon. However, lively discussion centered on whether the problem needed more documentation and research. A motion was made by Joseph La Palombara and seconded by Karl Deutsch that the proposal be referred to the Executive Committee. The motion was carried 13 aye to 7 nay.

Gwendolen Carter made a request that questionnaires be sent to the membership in order to discover their willingness to work overseas and this information be placed on file for reference. The request was referred to the Executive Committee.

President Pritchett expressed appreciation to the officers and members of the Council of the Association for their cooperation during his term as President.

The Council adjourned at 5:45 P.M.

DONALD G. TACHERON, Associate Director (on behalf of the Secretary)

Minutes of the Annual Business Meeting

The annual Business Meeting of the American Political Science Association was called to order by President C. Herman Pritchett in the Great Hall of the Pick-Congress Hotel, Chicago, Illinois, at 4:30 p.m., September 9, 1964.

President Pritchett noted that this is the sixtieth Annual Meeting of the Association and the tenth year of Evron Kirkpatrick's service as Executive Director. He mentioned the growth of the Association's membership during the past ten years and attributed this growth, as well as the expansion of the Association's activities, in large part to the efforts of the Executive Director; thanked the officers and all members who had accepted committee assignments during the past year; and announced that the officers' reports were available to all members.

Harvey Mansfield, Editor of the REVIEW, summarized in brief his written report. He called attention to the print order of 11,000 for the last issue and the flow of manuscripts which seems to have remained constant, about 225 to 250 per year. He noted the recent marked upsurge in the number of articles dealing with foreign governments and politics, and international relations. The appointment of Roland J. Pennock to replace John D. Lewis on the REVIEW Editorial Board was announced. He thanked Austin Ranney for his service in the Book Review department and the many colleagues who have read and appraised manuscripts for the REVIEW. It was moved, seconded, and passed that the Editor's report be accepted.

The Executive Director, Evron Kirkpatrick, briefly outlined the activities and programs of the Association. He noted that a full written report was available to members, and touched on some of the important developments of the past year: the opening of the National Science Foundation programs to political science; the Study of Congress, sponsored by the APSA under a grant from the Carnegie Corporation and under the direction of Ralph K. Huitt; the Presidential Campaign Debate Report; and the Legislative Operations Seminars conducted in cooperation with the U.S. Civil Service Commission. He commented on the continuing success of the Congressional Staff Fellowships, Congressional Fellowships, charter flights to Europe and the insurance program which now includes graduate students. His report, by summarizing the scope of activities of the Association, pointed up the service and contribution of the Association to the discipline, to the profession, and to its members. The Executive Director in the absence of the Secretary, John Schaar, reported briefly on the Council Meeting of September 8, 1964, and noted that minutes of the meeting will be printed in the December 1964 issue of the REVIEW. It was moved, seconded, and passed that the report of the Executive Director be accepted.

The Treasurer, Max Kampelman, reported on the good financial health of the Association, discussed the Operating Reserve Fund, the General Endowment and Trust Fund, and the proposed budget for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1965. He thanked all those who had made grants and gifts during the past year and noted that for the first time, due to the length of the list, he could not thank each contributor individually. He also called attention to the historical table in his written report which charts the financial growth of the Association from 1904 to 1964. It was moved, seconded, and passed that the Treasurer's report be accepted.

Austin Ranney, Chairman of the Nominating Committee, announced that the committee, after considering all suggestions, had recommended the following slate of officers for 1964–65, and Council members for the two-year term 1964–65:

President-Elect: Gabriel Almond (Stanford University)

- Vice Presidents: Samuel Beer (Harvard University); Marian Irish (Florida State University); James McCamy (University of Wisconsin)
- Secretary: Malcolm Jewell (University of Kentucky)
- Treasurer: Max M. Kampelman (Washington, D. C.)
- Members of the Council for two years: Marver Bernstein (Princeton University); James Coleman (University of California); David Easton (University of Chicago); Charles Farris (University of Florida); Ernst Haas (University of California); Warren Miller (University of Michigan); Joseph Tanenhaus (New York University); John Wahlke (State University of New York)

Mr. Ranney moved approval and the motion was seconded and passed unanimously. The Nominating Committee, in addition to Austin Ranney, consisted of: Rupert Emerson (Harvard University); Robert Scalapino (University of California), Avery Leiserson (Vanderbilt University); James W. Prothro (University of North Carolina); and Ruth G. Weintraub (Hunter College).

President Pritchett expressed his appreciation to the Association for giving him the opportunity to serve and his gratitude to the members for their assistance in the past year. He turned the gavel over to the incoming President, David B. Truman, who thanked President Pritchett for his generous efforts on behalf of the Association.

President Truman declared the meeting adjourned at 5:45.

MAX M. KAMPELMAN, Treasurer (on behalf of the Secretary)

The International Political Science Association held its Sixth World Congress in Geneva, Switzerland, September 21-25, 1964. Nearly 500 political scientists from over 40 countries were in attendance. The Swiss Association of Political Science was host to the meeting.

Sessions were held and papers presented on Political Leadership; Youth in Politics; New Trends in the Theory and Practice of Federalism; International Organization; Decentralization: Political, Administrative and Economic; and the Concept of Human Rights in Political Theory. In addition, a series of specialist meetings were held on Electoral Research; Finance and Politics; Research in Interest Groups; Political Conjecture; The Use of Quantitative Data; and Research on Hobbes and Locke.

New officers of IPSA were elected for the years 1964-67: President, Jacques Freymond (Switzerland); Vice Presidents, Stanislaw Ehrlich (Poland), Carl J. Friedrich (United States), and Georges Lavau (France); Executive Committee: Yavuz Abadan (Turkey), D. N. Chester (United Kingdom), S. A. H. Haqqi (India); J. E. Hodgetts (Canada), A. I. Lepeshkine (U.S.S.R.), Kaoru Matsumoto (Japan), W. H. Morris-Jones (United Kingdom), Andre Philippart (Belgium), Stein Rokkan (Norway), Alberto A. Spota (Argentina), Dolf Sternberger (Germany); Secretary General, Serge Hurtig (France).

The International Studies Association, an organization composed of political scientists and others with a professional interest in the study of international relations, held its fifth annual convention on March 19, 1964 in Salt Lake City.

Officers elected for 1964-65 were John Gange of the University of Oregon, president; Major John S. Pustay, assistant dean of the faculty at the U. S. Air Force Academy, first vice-president; Ward Morehouse of the University of the State of New York, second vice-president; Charles McClelland of the University of Southern California, treasurer and editor of the ISA quarterly magazine, *Background*; and Vincent Davis of the Social Science Foundation of the University of Denver, secretary.

In May the ISA formed its first regional affiliate, designated the ISA Midwest Division. Officers named to head this group during its first year of operation were: president, Edgar S. Furniss, Jr., Ohio State University; first vice-president, Maurice Waters, Wayne State University; vicepresidents, George J. Stolnitz of Indiana University, Chadwick Alger of Northwestern University, Michael J. Flack of the University of Pittsburgh, and Ross Stagner of Wayne State University; secretary, Jacqueline E. Timm of Bowling Green State University; and treasurer, Jerome Slater of Ohio State University.

The Round Table meeting of the International Institute of Administrative Sciences in Warsaw, Poland, June 23-27, 1864, was attended by one hundred persons, representing forty countries. The delegates discussed preliminary reports on three topics: public relations in administration, new techniques of budget preparation and management, and administrative management of public enterprises. Final reports on these topics will be presented at the next congress to be held at UNESCO House in Paris, July 25-31, 1965. A special session of representatives of schools and institutes engaged in training for public administration discussed, inter alia, the problems of training aspects of development administration. The Executive Committee approved the appointment of Ferrel Heady, University of Michigan, as a member of its scientific committee, and of Dwight Waldo, University of California, as a member of the editorial board of the International Review of Administrative Sciences. Other U. S. participants in the round table were Herbert Emmerich, University of Virginia and president of IIAS; Walter Gellhorn, Columbia Law School; G. W. Lawson, AID; Henry Reining, Jr., University of Southern California; Harold Seidman, U. S. Bureau of the Budget; and Edward Weidner, East-West Center, University of Hawaii.

The Northern California Political Science Association held its sixteenth annual meeting at San Francisco State College on May 2, 1964. Topics for panel discussion were the U.S. and Red China, and constitutional and political aspects of a civil rights initiative on the California ballot. Officers elected for 1964-65 were: president, Jack F. Leach, Monterey Peninsula College; vicepresident, Eugene Lee, University of California (Berkeley); secretary-treasurer, John M. Selig, City College of San Francisco. Elected to the council were Richard Fagan, Stanford University; Otto Freitag, Alameda County State College; Clyde Jacobs, University of California (Davis); Charles Kunsman, San Jose State College; Harry L. Morrison, St. Marys College; Paul Murray, Sacramento State College; Ray Stafansson, Chabot College.

The International Organization Research Program of the Maxwell Graduate School of Citizenship and Public Affairs of Syracuse University sponsored its first institute on the Administration of United Nations Affairs, August 23-28. The organization is directed by Gerard J. Mangone of Syracuse University.

The department of political science at the University of North Carolina sponsored a research conference on race and politics, June 7-13, 1964. Directors of the conference were James W. Prothro and Donald R. Matthews, both of North Carolina.

Faculty members from 22 countries participated in the Eastern Regional Conference for Visiting Scholars held at the University of Pennsylvania, June 3-6, 1964. The conference was under the joint auspices of the Conference Board of Associated Research Councils and the University of Pennsylvania.

The fourth annual American-Yugoslav educational exchange seminar was held at Indiana from May 20-26 on the topic of "Local Government."